STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Cherokee County

Honorable Daniel D. Hall, Circuit Court Judge

FRANKLIN DOVER,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000537

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

SARAH E. SHIPE
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED

Nov 20 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the PCR court erred finding defense counsel was not deficient for failure to object to the trial court's instruction that the jury could infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon and in finding petitioner was not prejudiced by this failure where *State v. Burdette*,¹ was decided two days after petitioner was sentenced to life for murder?

¹ 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019).

STATEMENT

On September 4, 2014, a Cherokee County grand jury indicted petitioner for murder. App. 599-600. On July 15-17, 2019, petitioner was tried before the Honorable R. Keith Kelly and a jury.² App. 1. Michael Morin represented petitioner and Kimberly Leskanic, deputy solicitor, represented the state. App. 1. The jury found petitioner guilty of murder, and Judge Kelly sentenced petitioner to life imprisonment. App. 469, ll. 2-7; 475, ll. 12-15; 601.

Appellate counsel filed a brief pursuant to *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738 (1967), arguing the trial court abused its discretion by refusing to direct a verdict. The South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal by unpublished opinion.

Thereafter, petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 482-534. On August 8, 2022, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Daniel D. Hall. App. 553-78. Rodney Richey represented petitioner and Chelsey Marto represented the state. App. 553.

On March 13, 2023, Judge Hall signed an order denying PCR. App. 579-98. The court found counsel was not deficient for failure to object to the trial court instructing the jury it could infer malice from use of a deadly weapon because *State v. Burdette* was not decided until after petitioner's trial. App. 591. The court stated the jury instruction was proper at the time and counsel could not have anticipated this change in the law. App. 591. The court further found no prejudice was established because any alleged error in the instruction was harmless for three reasons. App. 592. First, there was no prejudice because petitioner's case did "not present a concern of possible jury confusion because there [was] no evidence that [petitioner] was entitled to a lesser-included offense instruction or that a relevant defense, such as self-defense or defense

² Petitioner was tried jointly with his co-defendant, Rajshun Foster, who was represented at trial by Tracy Racine. App. 1; 13, ll. 23-25; App. 54, ll. 14-15.

of other was applicable.” App. 592. Second, there was no prejudice because the trial court’s alternative definitions of malice supported the conclusion that the killing was malicious. App. 592. Third, there was no prejudice because the evidence of malice in the case was overwhelming.

This petition follows.

ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred finding defense counsel was not deficient for failure to object to the trial court's instruction that the jury could infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon and in finding petitioner was not prejudiced by this failure where *State v. Burdette* was decided two days after petitioner was sentenced to life for murder.

Relevant facts

At trial, the state alleged that in June 2014, petitioner “laid in wait” for Timothy Blair to return to his apartment and shot him in the chest, killing him. App. 49, ll. 5-14. Petitioner was tried with his co-defendant, Rajshun Foster, who the state claimed was driving the getaway vehicle. App. 51, l. 20-52, l. 23. The state presented evidence, which is discussed below, that petitioner was seen at the apartment complex looking for decedent a few days before and was seen there on the day of the shooting. However, the state did not produce any direct evidence of petitioner's guilt during trial.

The decedent's girlfriend, Terrica Bonner, testified at trial. App. 93-127. Terrica and decedent were living together at the apartment complex at the time of his murder. App. 93, ll. 12-21. She testified that a few days before decedent was killed Rajshun Foster and petitioner came to her apartment looking for decedent, but he was not there. App. 98, ll. 14. Terrica stated they were looking for decedent and “[i]t wasn't no friendly visit.” App. 98, ll. 19-25; 119, l. 25-120, l. 2. However, Terrica admitted when she first spoke to police about this visit, she did not include petitioner as one of the men who showed up looking for petitioner. She initially said it was Rajshun and three unknown men. App. 112, ll. 1-13. Terrica also clarified that during Rajshun's visit to her apartment a few days before decedent was killed he told her, “he had something for [decedent].” App. 98, ll. 21-23; 117, ll. 3-11.

On the day decedent was killed Terrica saw Rajshun at the apartment complex, with three other individuals as she was leaving the complex heading to her mother's home. She did not see petitioner. App. 101, l. 7-103, l. 19. Not long after Terrica arrived at her mother's home, she got a call that decedent had been killed. App. 104, ll. 2-5.

A resident of the apartment complex, Bernice Dowdle, testified that Rajshun was asking about decedent before the day he was killed. App. 129, l. 15-130, l. 12. Bernice testified usually decedent and Rajshun were together because they were friends. App. 130, ll. 20-24. On the day of the shooting, Bernice saw decedent and spoke to him. She told decedent Rajshun had been looking for him. App. 131, ll. 7-19. After Bernice spoke with decedent and he walked away she heard a "big bam," and she saw decedent laying behind the back door of Terrica's apartment. She did not see anyone leaving the area. However, Bernice testified she did see Rajshun after the shooting in the parking lot with Antron Bonner. App. 132, ll. 5-17.

Rajshun Foster's girlfriend, Jasmine Hudson testified that she and Rajshun were going to the apartment complex to visit her friend that lived there on the day decedent was killed. App. 145, l. 22-147, l. 7. On the way there she and Rajshun ran into petitioner, and he also went to the apartment complex. App. 147, l. 10-148, l. 18. Jasmine claimed she saw a gun in the passenger side of the car petitioner was driving. She described the gun as "beige" and "big." App. 150, l. 11-20; 152, ll. 20-24. Jasmine and Rajshun drove to the apartment complex and some time later petitioner got there. While there, Jasmine went to her friend's apartment and Rajshun and petitioner stayed outside by the cars. App. 156, l. 22-157, l. 25. Jasmine never heard a gunshot but found out later there had been a shooting. She says she left the apartment complex separately from Rajshun that day. App. 158, l. 3-159, l. 25.

A resident of the apartment complex, Sharie Studyvance, testified that on the day he was

killed she saw decedent outside talking to Rajshun and petitioner. App. 176, l. 24-178, l. 12. She claimed the Rajshun and decedent were arguing and petitioner was standing over beside his car with the door open.³ App. 180, ll. 6-25. Sharie testified that petitioner said to the decedent “I’ll get you one way or the other.” App. 179, ll. 16-21; 181, ll. 14-19. Sharie said she saw petitioner with a gun and described the gun as a “black and brown” “long gun.” App. 179, ll. 16-17; 181, ll. 2-7. Sharie left to go to the store and was later told decedent had been killed. App. 181, ll. 21-25.

Antron Bonner⁴ testified that he rode to the apartment complex with petitioner and Rajshun on the day of the incident. App. 317, l. 10-318, l. 14. He claimed petitioner had his rifle and “doctor’s gloves” with them in the car on the way to the complex. App. 318, l. 23-319, l. 14. Another individual Antron called “T” brought a small pistol. App. 318, l. 24-319, l. 18. On the way to the apartment complex, petitioner and T got out of the car with their guns. App. 321, l. 22-322, ll. 25. Rajshun and Antron proceeded to the apartment complex where Rajshun met with and spoke to decedent. App. 323, ll. 9-21. It is unclear from Antron’s testimony, but it appears that decedent eventually walked off. App. 324. Then Rajshun bought some marijuana, and they heard what Antron said sounded like an explosion. App. 325, ll. 22-24. They left the complex and picked up petitioner and T. App. 326, ll. 9-25. Antron claimed Rajshun asked petitioner where he shot him and petitioner answered he shot him in the chest. Then they dropped petitioner and T off at a woman’s house. App. 327, ll. 1-25. Antron admitted on cross-

³ Another resident of the apartment complex Nakisha Love testified she heard arguing and saw petitioner and Rajshun on the day of the incident but did not see decedent get shot. App. 198-99. Resident Kiara Douglas testified decedent told her he argued with petitioner and Rajshun but she did not see either man on the day of the shooting. App. 208-209.

⁴ Antron Bonner is the cousin of Terrica Bonner, decedent’s girlfriend. App. 115, ll. 1-8.

examination he never told police about this conversation in any of his earlier statements. App. 347, ll. 12-23; 350, ll. 2-16.

Antron testified that he was charged with decedent's murder but had been offered to plead guilty to "misprison of a felony." App. 329, l. 23-330, l. 3. He denied knowing about a plan to kill decedent. App. 330, ll. 5-15. Antron admitted he did not go to police about what happened but asserted that when he was asked by police he cooperated and gave a statement. App. 330, ll. 12-18.

Petitioner's girlfriend, Mary Davis testified that she saw petitioner late in the afternoon on the day of the incident. App. 363, l. 20-25. She said that he arrived at her house with T. Mary testified that petitioner changed clothes and put the clothes in a box for a friend to come and pick up. App. 364, ll. 13-25; 365, l. 14-366, l. 13; 374, l. 16-375, l. 13. Mary denies having seen petitioner with a gun that day or having seen Rajshun. App. 381, l. 1-8.

During the jury charge, the trial court instructed the jury as follows:

Evidence of the character of the act, the character of the instrument used, the manner in which it was used, the purpose to be accomplished and resulting wounds or injuries may be considered in determining intent.

The use of a deadly weapon gives rise to a permissive inference of malice. You twelve may draw an inference of malice from proof of the use of a deadly weapon if you conclude such an inference is proper after considering all the facts and circumstances in evidence.

You are free to accept or reject the permissive inferences, depending on your view of the evidence.

The law says if one intentionally kills another with a deadly weapon, the implication of malice may arise.

If the facts are proved beyond a reasonable doubt sufficient to raise an inference of malice to your satisfaction, the inference would be simply an evidentiary fact to be taken into consideration by you, along with all other evidence, and give it such weight as you determine it should receive.

A deadly weapon is an article, instrument, or substance which is likely to cause death or great bodily harm. Whether an instrument or object has been used as a deadly weapon depends on the facts and circumstances of each case.

App. 458, l. 20-459, l. 18 (emphasis added).

At his evidentiary hearing petitioner testified that the trial court instructed the jury that it could infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon and defense counsel failed to object to the improper instruction. App. 557, ll. 7-21. He testified that he believed the decision in *State v. Burdette*, which came out on July 31, 2019, should have applied to his case where he filed his direct appeal on July 26, 2019. App. 559, l. 19-558, l. 9. Petitioner contended that defense counsel was ineffective for failure to object to and preserve the issue for appellate review. App. 558, ll. 10-15.

Defense counsel agreed the court's instruction regarding malice is no longer proper but stated that at the time of trial the law supported the charge. App. 570, ll. 4-16; 576, ll. 17-22.

Discussion

The burden of proof is on the applicant in PCR proceedings to prove the allegations in their application. *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). Where allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel are made, the question becomes, "whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

First, the applicant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. *Id.* This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment. *Id.*

The court wrongly found defense counsel was not deficient for failure to object to the trial court instructing the jury it could infer malice from use of a deadly weapon because *State v. Burdette* was not decided until after petitioner's trial. In *Burdette* this Court held, regardless of the evidence presented at trial, a trial court shall not instruct the jury that it may infer the existence of malice when the deed was done with a deadly weapon. *State v. Burdette*, 427 S.C. 490, 503, 832 S.E.2d 575, 582 (2019) (emphasis added).

In its order denying PCR the court stated the jury instruction was proper at the time and counsel could not have anticipated this change in the law. However, this situation did not require counsel to anticipate a change in the law where this issue was being considered on appeal at the time of petitioner's trial. Petitioner was tried July 15, 2019. This Court granted certiorari in *Burdette* the prior year, on March 7, 2018. Oral argument was held in *Burdette* in February 2019. Counsel's failure to object to the court's instruction was not reasonable where this issue had already been considered by the Court of Appeals and was under review by the Supreme Court.

Second, the applicant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the individual of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

Petitioner was prejudiced by counsel's failure to object to the court's jury instructions. The court erred finding petitioner's case did "not present a concern of possible jury confusion because there [was] no evidence that [petitioner] was entitled to a lesser-included offense instruction or that a relevant defense, such as self-defense or defense of other was applicable." While it is true there was no evidence presented that petitioner committed this crime in self-defense or that a lesser included instruction was applicable, as stated above the *Burdette* Court


held that regardless of the evidence presented at trial the trial court should not instruct the jury that it can infer the existence of malice when a deadly weapon was used.

The PCR court erred finding there was no prejudice because of the trial court's alternative definitions of malice supported the conclusion that the killing was malicious. Regardless of the rest of the instruction being proper the court's instruction to the jury that it could infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon prejudiced petitioner in this case. The state's case was largely circumstantial where there were no witness that saw petitioner shoot decedent or saw petitioner fleeing the shooting. However, multiple witnesses testified that they saw a gun in petitioner's car or in his hands on the day of the shooting and the court's instruction that the jury could infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon was certainly prejudicial in the state's case against petitioner.

The court erred finding there was no prejudice because the evidence of malice in the case was overwhelming. The evidence of malice in this case was far from overwhelming. The state's only evidence of malice was testimony that another resident heard petitioner say, "I'll get you one way or the other." The only direct evidence of petitioner's guilt was the incredible testimony of Antron Bonner whose testimony was largely self-serving as he admittedly had been offered a deal in exchange for his testimony against petitioner.

CONCLUSION

By reason of the foregoing argument, a writ of certiorari should be granted to allow full briefing on the issue.



Sarah E. Shipe
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER