RECEIVED

Apr 05 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Common Pleas
Appeal from Cherokee County
Honorable Daniel Dewitt Hall, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2023-000537

FRANKLIN DOVER,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

After all the testimony and evidence was presented, the parties presented their closing arguments to the jury, and the trial judge instructed the jury on the applicable law. (App’x pp.

408-465). As part of those jury instructions, the trial judge thoroughly instructed the jury on malice and its meaning. (App’x pp. 457-459). And, in doing so, the trial judge—in part—advised the jury malice could be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon. (App’x pp. 458-459).

Notably, at that time, the decision in State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009), constituted the controlling law on the propriety of such an instruction. In that case, this Court recognized such instructions had long been sanctioned in South Carolina but nevertheless ruled one could no longer properly be given “where evidence is presented that would reduce, mitigate, excuse or justify the homicide.” Id. at 600, 685 S.E.2d at 803-804.

During Dover and Foster’s trial, no jury instructions were presented on any lesser-included offenses or on anything that could excuse, justify, or mitigate the charged murder. (App’x pp. 449-465). Accordingly, consistent with Belcher and its progeny, no objections were raised to that particular instruction—or any of the trial judge’s other jury instructions—by either Dover’s or Foster’s defense counsel. (App’x pp. 465-466).

Following that, the case was submitted to the jury. (App’x p. 467). After roughly three hours of deliberations, the jury unanimously convicted both Dover and Foster of Blair’s murder. (App’x pp. 467-469).

Fourteen days later, this Court issued its decision in State v. Burdette, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019). Through that decision, this Court overruled Belcher and a considerable number of cases that had followed it “to the extent [that precedent] permit[ted] a jury instruction that malice may be inferred from the defendant’s use of a deadly weapon.” Id. at 504, 832 S.E.2d at 583. Thus, pursuant to Burdette, a jury instruction on inferring malice from the use of a deadly weapon was no longer proper in South Carolina “[r]egardless of the evidence presented at trial[.]” Id. at 504-505, 832 S.E.2d at 583. Furthermore, this Court declared its newly-

articulated rule was effective in Burdette’s case and all other cases “which are pending on direct review or are not yet final, *so long as the issue is preserved.*” Id. at 505, 832 S.E.2d at 583 (emphasis added).

Subsequently, Dover—following an unsuccessful appeal—filed a PCR application seeking relief in the form of a new trial. (App’x pp. 483-536). In response, an evidentiary hearing was convened on the matter. (App’x p. 555). Amongst the claims raised during that hearing, Dover alleged defense counsel purportedly should have objected to the inference of malice jury instruction because the decision in Burdette—which he conceded was decided after his trial had concluded—“made th[at] charge improper.” (App’x pp. 557-558). Following Dover’s testimony, defense counsel took the stand and agreed the inference of malice charge given during trial was now improper. (App’x p. 570). However, he explained he was aware it was *not* invalid at the time of trial, it only became so based on the *subsequent* decision in Burdette, and the then-controlling law supported the charge at the time it was given. (App’x p. 570).

Ultimately, upon considering the matter, the PCR judge ruled Dover was not entitled to a grant of relief. (App’x p. 577; p. 579; p. 598). In so ruling, the PCR judge recognized defense counsel was not required to be clairvoyant or anticipate changes in the law in order to provide effective representation. (App’x p. 590). Therefore, the PCR judge found Dover’s defense counsel was not deficient for failing to object to the inference of malice jury instruction because it was permitted at the time of trial by Belcher, which was only later overruled by the Burdette decision. (App’x p. 591). Furthermore, the PCR judge concluded Dover likewise failed to establish he was prejudiced by the alleged deficiency because: (1) the inference of malice jury instruction could not have been confusing under the specific circumstances of Dover’s case; (2)

the trial judge thoroughly instructed the jury on how malice could be established in ways other than by inferring it from the use of a deadly weapon; and (3) the evidence of malice presented was overwhelming. (App'x pp. 592-595).

Applicable Law

In every criminal case tried in South Carolina, the defendant has a constitutional right to a fair trial. State v. Woods, 345 S.C. 583, 587, 550 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001); see State v. Harris, 340 S.C. 59, 63, 530 S.E.2d 626, 627 (2000) (“The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution guarantee a defendant a fair trial by a panel of impartial and indifferent jurors.”). Pursuant to that right, the defendant is entitled to effective assistance of counsel. McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771 n. 14 (1970); see Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685 (1984) (“An accused is entitled to be assisted by an attorney, whether retained or appointed, who plays the role necessary to ensure that the trial is fair.”). Significantly, effective assistance of counsel does *not* mean perfect representation. See Burt v. Titlow, 571 U.S. 12, 24 (2013) (“[T]he Sixth Amendment does not guarantee the right to perfect counsel; it promises only the right to effective assistance[.]”); Yarborough v. Gentry, 540 U.S. 1, 8 (2003) (“The Sixth Amendment guarantees reasonable competence, not perfect advocacy judged with the benefit of hindsight.”). Instead, it simply means assistance that was objectively reasonable under prevailing professional norms. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688. Meanwhile, counsel’s assistance is considered to be constitutionally ineffective when “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Id. at 686.

When faced with a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a reviewing court must conduct a two-pronged analysis. Franklin v. Catoe, 346 S.C. 563, 570, 552 S.E.2d 718, 722

(2001). Pursuant to that two-pronged analysis, an applicant raising an ineffective assistance of counsel claim must establish: (1) counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness; *and* (2) there is a reasonable probability the outcome of the proceeding would have been different but for counsel's deficient performance. Williams v. State, 363 S.C. 341, 343, 611 S.E.2d 232, 233 (2005). Thus, the applicant has the heavy burden of establishing both deficiency and prejudice in order to be entitled to relief. Hughes v. State, 346 S.C. 554, 558, 552 S.E.2d 315, 317 (2001); *see* Stone v. State, 419 S.C. 370, 380, 798 S.E.2d 561, 566 (2017) (instructing "the law requires [a reviewing court to] presume counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment" and only find to the contrary when the applicant has overcome that presumption by establishing both deficiency and prejudice).

Regarding the deficiency prong of the analysis, the proper measure of performance is whether counsel provided representation within the objectively reasonable range of competence required in criminal cases. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985); *see* Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 110 (2011) (instructing the proper analysis "calls for an inquiry into the *objective* reasonableness of counsel's performance, not counsel's subjective state of mind" (emphasis added)). When analyzing counsel's performance, the reviewing court will strongly presume counsel provided adequate assistance, and the applicant is responsible for overcoming that presumption. Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814; *see* Cullen v. Pinholster, 563 U.S. 170, 189 (2011) (explaining a defendant must show defense counsel failed to act reasonably considering all the circumstances in order to overcome the presumption of adequate representation). Furthermore, the reviewing court will scrutinize counsel's performance in a highly deferential manner, will make every effort "to eliminate *the distorting effects of hindsight*," and will "evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time" in

light of the then-existing circumstances. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689 (emphasis added). To establish counsel’s performance was deficient, the applicant must demonstrate “counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.” Id. at 687. Thus, counsel’s performance will be considered to be deficient only when it objectively amounted to incompetence under prevailing professional norms and *not* when it simply “deviated from best practices or most common custom.” Richter, 562 U.S. at 105; see Dunn v. Reeves, 594 U.S. 731, 739 (2021) (“[E]ven if there is reason to think that counsel’s conduct was far from exemplary, a court still may not grant relief if the record does not reveal that counsel took an approach that no competent lawyer would have chosen.” (citation, internal quotations, and brackets in original omitted)).

Beyond satisfying the burden required by the deficiency prong, an applicant also bears the burden of establishing prejudice in order to be entitled to relief as “[a]n error by counsel, even if professionally unreasonable, does not warrant setting aside the judgment of a criminal proceeding if the error had no effect on the judgment.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691. In order to for that burden to be met, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant to such an extent there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceeding would have been different but for counsel’s unprofessional errors. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989); see Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694 (“A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.”). Importantly, “[t]he likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just conceivable.” Richter, 562 U.S. at 112.

Analysis

Through his petition for a writ of certiorari, Dover contends on appeal the PCR judge erred by declining to grant relief in his case. As support for that contention, Dover maintains

defense counsel was deficient for failing to object to the trial judge’s jury instruction on inferring malice from the use of a deadly weapon because that particular instruction was declared to be improper in South Carolina through this Court’s decision in Burdette, which was issued *after* the trial.⁴ And, despite the fact the decision in Burdette *did not yet exist* at the time of his trial and while citing no supporting authority of any kind, Dover alleges the situation involved in his case somehow “did not require [defense] counsel to anticipate a change in the law”—even though one did, in fact, indisputably occur—because certiorari was granted in Burdette roughly a year before his trial and an oral argument had already been held prior to that point. (Pet. for Cert. p. 9). Thus, in effect, Dover avers defense counsel should have realized (or, when phrased slightly differently, *anticipated*) this Court was planning to overrule Belcher through Burdette and was constitutionally ineffective for failing to preemptively act in anticipation of that future change in the law. Beyond that, Dover asserts the inference of malice instruction was somehow prejudicial to him in his case in light of the fact testimony was presented establishing he was seen in possession of a gun on the date of the incident coupled with the circumstantial nature of the State’s case.

To the contrary and just as the PCR judge found, defense counsel was not deficient for failing to object to the inference of malice jury instruction because that instruction constituted a

⁴ Through his petition for a writ of certiorari, Dover contends the decision in Burdette was issued “two days” after his trial ended. (Pet. for Cert. p. 1; p. 4). Notwithstanding the fact Dover’s trial ended on July 17, 2019, and the Burdette decision was issued on July 31, 2019, the specific length of time—whether two years, two weeks, or even two days—between the trial and the subsequent change in the law that was brought about by Burdette was not what mattered in Dover’s case; what mattered was the fact Burdette and its accompanying change in the law came *after* Dover’s trial and, thus, was not yet available to provide guidance to defense counsel. *Cf. Randolph v. Delo*, 952 F.2d 243, 247 (8th Cir. 1991) (concluding Randolph’s defense counsel did not perform deficiently by failing to raise an objection to the jury selection process because jury selection occurred in the case two days *before* the decision in Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986), was issued).

correct statement of law *at the time of Dover's trial*, which was and is the pertinent time period for purposes of a proper analysis of the effectiveness of defense counsel's representation. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689 ("A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective *at the time.*" (emphasis added)). Significantly, at the time of Dover's trial, this Court's decision in Belcher remained good law and had not yet been overruled. Burdette, 427 S.C. at 504, 832 S.E.2d at 583. Pursuant to that decision along with a "considerable amount of South Carolina case law" that followed it, the long-sanctioned jury instruction on inferring malice from the use of a deadly weapon was not improper *unless* evidence was presented that would reduce, mitigate, excuse, or justify the homicide, and, critically, no such evidence was presented during Dover's trial. Id. at 504 n. 3, 832 S.E.2d at 583 n. 3; see Belcher, 385 S.C. at 600, 685 S.E.2d at 803-804 ("It has long been the practice for trial courts in South Carolina, as sanctioned by this Court, to charge juries in any murder prosecution that the jury may infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon. . . . Having carefully scrutinized the historical antecedents to this permissive inference, we hold today that a jury charge instructing that malice may be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon is no longer good law in South Carolina where evidence is presented that would reduce, mitigate, excuse or justify the homicide."). Under such circumstances, defense counsel was not—and, when applying the correct non-hindsight-based analysis, could not have been—deficient for failing to anticipate the change brought about by the *subsequent* decision in Burdette, and, by abiding by then-existing state law that supported the inference of malice jury instruction at the time of trial, defense counsel certainly did not pursue a course of action no competent attorney would have chosen as would have been necessary for a finding of deficiency.

Reeves, 594 U.S. at 739; see Gilmore v. State, 314 S.C. 453, 457, 445 S.E.2d 454, 456 (1994) (“We have never required an attorney to be clairvoyant or anticipate changes in the law which were not in existence at the time of trial.”), overruled on other grounds by Brightman v. State, 336 S.C. 348, 520 S.E.2d 614 (1999); cf. Teamer v. State, 416 S.C. 171, 183, 786 S.E.2d 109, 115 (2016) (“The PCR court found trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the trial court’s instruction, even though Daniels had not yet been decided, because if trial counsel had made an objection, the issue would have been preserved for appellate review. . . . We disagree and hold that the PCR court erred in finding trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to the jury instruction when no case law existed rendering the instruction improper per se. This Court has previously held that reasonable representation does not require trial counsel to foresee successful appellate challenges to novel questions of law. As trial counsel’s performance was not deficient, we reverse the PCR court’s grant of relief on this ground.”). And, that remained true regardless of whether this Court had already granted certiorari, held an oral argument, and taken the matter under advisement in Burdette by the time of Dover’s trial. Cf. Kornahrens v. Evatt, 66 F.3d 1350, 1360 (4th Cir. 1995) (“[T]he case law is clear that an attorney’s assistance is not rendered ineffective because he failed to anticipate a new rule of law. Based on this clear precedent, we cannot say that, under the facts of this case, [defense counsel]’s trial performance was constitutionally deficient because he followed a long-standing and well-settled rule of South Carolina criminal law—even when that rule was under attack in the United States Supreme Court at the time of trial.” (emphasis added and citations omitted)).

Accordingly, since defense counsel’s failure to predict the change in the law that occurred only after Dover’s trial had concluded did not constitute deficient performance, the PCR judge correctly concluded Dover failed to meet his burden of establishing defense counsel

was constitutionally ineffective, and his ruling was both eminently logical and fully consistent with the proper guiding standard for evaluating ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claims.⁵ See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689 (rejecting hindsight-based evaluation of defense counsel’s performance at trial); Thornes v. State, 310 S.C. 306, 309-310, 426 S.E.2d 764, 765 (1993) (“This Court has never required an attorney to anticipate or discover changes in the law, or facts which did not exist, at the time of the trial.”); Gilmore, 314 S.C. at 457, 445 S.E.2d at 456 (“Trial counsel . . . could not be ineffective for failing to request a jury instruction which would not be applicable to the offenses charged for at least another year.”). Dover’s petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.

⁵ Because defense counsel’s performance was not and could not have been deficient under the circumstances involved, it was unnecessary for the PCR judge to make a prejudice determination before denying relief. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 700 (“Failure to make the required showing of either deficient performance or sufficient prejudice defeats the ineffectiveness claim.”); cf. Walker v. Jones, 10 F.3d 1569, 1573 (11th Cir. 1994) (“Because Alabama courts had rejected similar claims and the Supreme Court had not yet decided Cage, trial counsel had no basis for objecting to the trial court’s instruction on reasonable doubt. Trial counsel’s failure to object to the instruction was, therefore, reasonable. Because trial counsel acted reasonably, his representation in this regard was not deficient, and *we need not address whether the alleged failure caused Walker prejudice.*” (emphasis added)). However, for the reasons identified by the PCR judge in his order denying relief and because whoever killed the victim by shooting him in the side of his chest with a rifle clearly did so with malice, Dover likewise could not establish he was prejudiced by defense counsel’s failure to anticipate Burdette and object to the inference of malice jury instruction given. (App’x pp. 592-595).

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted the petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.